
 

Rural Area 
Working Party 

 

Title: Agenda  
Date: Monday 26 January 2015 

Time: 5.00 pm 

Venue: GFR14 
West Suffolk House 
Western Way 

Bury St Edmunds 

Note: All Members for Rural Wards are invited to attend this meeting 

Full Members: Chairman Jim ThorndykeJim Thorndyke 

 Vice Chairman Sarah BroughtonSarah Broughton 

 Conservative 
Members (8) 

Robert Clifton-Brown 
Alaric Pugh 

Dave Ray 
 

Angela Rushen 
Peter Stevens 

Paula Wade 
 

 Independent 

Group Member 
(1) 

Derek Redhead 
 

 

 

Substitutes: Conservative 

Members (3) 

Ian Houlder 

Beccy Hopfensperger 
 

Dorothy Whittaker 

 

 Independent 
Group Member 
(1) 

David Nettleton 
 

 
 

Interests – 
Declaration and 

Restriction on 
Participation: 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 

register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 

sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Quorum: Three Members 

Committee 
administrator: 

David Long 
Committee Administrator and SEBC Scrutiny Support 

Tel: 01284 757120 
Email: david.long@westsuffolk.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 Agenda Page No 

  
Procedural Matters 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence   

2.   Substitutes   

3.   Minutes 1 - 4 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 27 October 2014 
(copy attached). 
 

 

 Part 1 - Public 
 

 

4.   Rural Youth Work Programme 5 - 12 

 Report No: RUR/SE/15/001 
 

 

5.   Rural Public Transport  

 Councillor Peter Stevens, Portfolio Holder with the responsibility 
for rural areas, will give an oral update on the county-wide 
meeting to discuss rural transport in January, 2015. 
 

 

6.   Funding of Rural Local Authorities 13 - 58 

 To support a discussion by the Working Party, the following 

documentation is attached to this agenda as Paper No: 
RUR/SE/15/002: 

 
(a) Press release from the Sparsity Partnership for Authorities 

Delivering Rural Services (SPARSE) dated 22 December 
2014; 

 

(b) Letter from SPARSE to Eric Pickles MP, dated 22 November 
2014; 

 
(c) “Research into drivers of service costs in rural areas: 

summary report” (DCLG and DEFRA, 2014) (NB Full report 

can be downloaded at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/costs-of-

service-delivery-in-rural-areas); and 
 
(d) West Suffolk response to Government consultation on 

provisional Local Government Finance Settlement (deadline 
15 January 2015). 

 

 

7.   Parish Conference: Thursday 26 March 2015  

 To finalise the arrangements for the next Parish Conference.  



 
 

  Page No 
 

 

8.   Work Programme  

 The Working Party is invited to consider its work programme. 
 
The external speaker for a presentation on environmental 

enhancement grants has confirmed her attendance for the next 
meeting in March 2015. 

 
The officers will also schedule items at future meetings in relation 
to the Working Party’s previous requests to consider 

 
(a) “Rural Deprivation Interventions” (national good practice); 

(b) Training Grants for Small Business:  Rural Aspects; and 
(c) Wool Towns Initiative. 
 

 

9.   Dates of Future Meetings  

 The Working Party had already determined that its next meeting 
will be held on Monday 30 March 2015 at 5.00 pm. 
 

 

  

Part 2 – Exempt 
 

NONE 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

   
 Rural Area Working Party 27.10.14 

   

ST EDMUNDSBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

RURAL AREA WORKING PARTY 
 

Minutes of a meeting held on Monday 27 October 2014 at 3.00 pm 
in Room GFR14, West Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St Edmunds 

 
 
PRESENT: Councillor J Thorndyke (Chairman) 

Councillors Mrs Broughton, Clifton-Brown, Pugh, Ray, 
Redhead, Mrs Rushen, Stevens and Mrs Wade 

 
 

10. Substitutions 
 
 No substitutions were declared. 
 
11. Apologies for Absence 
 

No apologies for absence were received. 
 
12. Minutes 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2014 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
13. Declarations of Interests 
 

Members’ declarations of interests are recorded under the item to 
which the declaration relates. 

 
14. Rural Public Transport 
 

The Chairman welcomed Phil Magill, Public Transport Operations 
Manager, Suffolk County Council to the meeting.  Mr Magill advised that he 
had responsibility for planning and procurement of public transport along 
with schools transport which the County Council had a statutory duty to 
provide.  Members referred to difficulties persons living in rural parts of the 
Borough had in relation to public transport.  In response Mr Magill advised 
that the way in which bus operators worked was an historical one, whereby 
they customarily operated along the same historic routes and to the same 
timetable.  Bus services had therefore not been responsive to changes in 
society, e.g. shift or flexible working, or modern day demands.   

 
The County Council received criticism for subsiding what appeared to 

be empty buses and yet there was great public concern when these same 
services were withdrawn.  Currently in Suffolk the County Council spent £19 
million on schools transport.  £2.6 million on rural bus services and £8 million 
on concessionary bus travel.  Central government grants were being ‘top 
sliced’ which meant the County Council had to find funds from within its own 
budget to sustain this expenditure.  With increasing costs of contracts with 
bus operators this had the consequence of cutbacks to those services which 
were difficult to justify.  The Transport Act 1985 which had de-regulated bus 
services had greatly reduced the control local authorities had over the 
provision of bus services.  It had also introduced constraints on experimental 
usage of bus services.  The mandatory requirement to provide concessionary 
travel to older people also meant that, in some areas, passengers eligible for 
this support, had been unable to save services at risk by making a small 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

   
 Rural Area Working Party 27.10.14 

   

voluntary contribution to the cost of their fare.  However, despite these 
challenges, one of the biggest barriers to improving services was not always 
knowing what the public actually wanted of their public transport system.    

 
Members acknowledged the difficulties which existed, particularly the 

inability or unwillingness of people to opt for planned journeys rather than 
using their own personal vehicles.  It was pointed out that bus operating 
times did not synchronise with railway timetables and that bus routes did not 
always serve primary facilities, e.g. hospitals, which people wished to travel 
to.  Reference was also made to other providers of transport e.g. the NHS 
Hospital Transport Service and in some cases, local supermarkets who 
provided buses for shoppers.  It was felt that there needed to be an 
integrated approach, involving all providers towards serving transport needs.  
Towards this end the existing legislation needed to be reviewed and changes 
made to allow improvements to be made to the public transport network.  In 
relation to this view reference was made to the current lobby being mounted 
by the Local Government Association’s Rural Network. 

 
In response Mr Magill advised that a conference would be staged on 

16 January 2015 to address public transport issues to which local MPs, local 
authorities and stakeholders would be invited to attend.  Members welcomed 
this initiative and asked officers to ensure that there would be elected 
member representation from the Borough Council at the conference.  Mr 
Magill also reported that local bus companies had recently agreed to 
participate in a Bus Partnership in co-operation with the County Council. 

 
Mr Magill was thanked for his attendance. 
 

(Councillors Pugh and Mrs Wade arrived at the meeting during the discussion 
of this item) 

 
15. Rural Youth Programme 
 
 Officers gave an oral update in relation to the Rural Youth Programme 
for 2014/2015.  It was reported that, unfortunately, because of the 
resignation of a member of staff employed by the contracted provider 
sessions had not been run during the summer months.  There was an 
intention to run four sessions in Barrow, Wickhambrook, Stanton and 
Ixworth during the current half term holiday period.  From the current year’s 
budget of £10,600 there was therefore an underspend of £8,900 for which 
there was an option for Members to roll over this amount into 2015/2016 
with a view to provide extra sessions during that year or to undertake ‘pump 
priming’ work with Parish Councils and/or voluntary organisations in other 
parishes, and link to other work being carried out under the Council’s 
Families and Communities Strategy. 
 

The Working Party was of the view that this matter warranted further 
examination and it was agreed that Councillors Thorndyke, Ray, Mrs Rushen 
and Mrs Wade would meet with relevant officers for further discussion with a 
report back being made to the next meeting of the Working Party on 
26 January 2015. 

 
16. Town and Parish Conference October 2014:  Feedback 

 
In relation to this item a paper was tabled which gave information on 

responses received from 27 delegates who had attended this event.  The 
responses received indicated that there was a unanimous view that the 
conference was useful.  Comments made on the arrangements for the 

Page 2



 

 
 

   
 Rural Area Working Party 27.10.14 

   

conference were also generally favourable.  Several topics had been 
suggested by parishes for future conferences, and these were added to by 
the Working Party.  Officers undertook to investigate the suggestion that 
there should be fewer presentations with these being made the subject of a 
workshop session instead.  It was felt that there should always be two  or 
three workshop sessions and that an edition of Rural News should be issued 
to coincide with parish conferences.  It was noted that the next conference 
would be held at Honington and Sapiston Village Hall and the Autumn 
conference would be at a venue in Haverhill. 

 
(Mrs Broughton left the meeting during the discussion of this item and did 
not return) 
 
17. Work Programme 

 
(a) Environmental Enhancement Grants 
 

In relation to this item officers advised that Diane Ling of the 
Suffolk Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group had agreed to 
discuss this matter with the Working Party in early 2015.  The 
timing of this was because a Government publication on the 
scheme was expected this Autumn.  Officers were asked to liaise 
with the Chairman of the Bury St Edmunds Area Working Party 
regarding this matter because of a possible interest by that 
Working Party in areas of open space in the town e.g. The Leg 
of Mutton. 

 
(b) West Suffolk Guide for Parish and Town Councils 
 

As part of the new approach to communication between the 
Borough Council and Parish and Town Councils, it had been 
agreed previously that the Council’s rural webpages would be 
updated in the form of a guide for parish and town councils.  In 
that regard, a list of relevant services that the Borough Council 
provided and/or information from the Borough Council which 
parishes and towns most needed was tabled. Members 
commented that there were no references to SALC or the 
County Council services of Rural Public Transport and Highways 
in the list.  It was also noted that the guide would identify  
where  Parish and Town Councils could undertake a greater role 
in services themselves.  Members of the Working Party were 
asked to give feedback to officers on any other aspects of the 
proposed guide, and to take part in the testing of the draft guide 
before it went ‘live’. 
 

(c) Other Items 
 

Members asked that the following be included on future 
agendas: 
 

 Rural Public Transport  
 “Rural Deprivation Interventions” (national good practice) 
 Training Grants for Small Business:  Rural Aspects 
 Wool Towns Initiative 
 SPARSE lobbying re rural funding 

 
18. Dates of Future Meetings 
 

Page 3



 

 
 

   
 Rural Area Working Party 27.10.14 

   

The Working Party had already approved the following dates for future 
meetings: 

 
Monday 26 January 2015; and 
Monday 30 March 2015. 
 
Both meetings to commence at 5.00 pm. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 5.05 pm. 
 

 
 
 

J THORNDYKE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 4



RUR/SE/14/001 

 

Rural Area 

Working Party 
 

Title of Report: St Edmundsbury’s Rural Youth Work 
Project 2015 

Report No: RUR/SE/14/001 
[to be completed by Democratic Services] 

Decisions plan 

reference: 
 

Report to and 

date/s: 

Rural Area Working 

Party 
26 January 2015 

Lead officer: Simon Pickering 

Families and Communities Officer 
Tel: 01284 757077  
Email: simon.pickering@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Purpose of report: This report provides the Working Party with an update 
on the proposals for this spring and summer’s youth 

work in the rural areas of St Edmundsbury. 
 

The aim of this year’s work project is to support the 
delivery of the Families and Community Strategy and 
the council’s priority of ‘resilient families and 

communities that are healthy and active’. 
 

 

 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:simon.pickering@stedsbc.gov.uk


RUR/SE/14/001 

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s) 

 
1.1 Introduction 

 

1.1.1 
 

The Council works in partnership to deliver a wide range of youth work 
activities throughout the year, including On the Spot project, BurySound and 

providing activities during the summer holidays for young people.   
 

1.1.2 

 

This report refers to young people, which we considered to be 11- 19 years 

old. 
 

1.1.3 Since 2008 St Edmundsbury has held a rural youth work budget of £10,600 
per annum. This has seen a significant amount of youth projects and 
participation happening in the rural areas of St Edmundsbury.  

 
1.1.4 The focus of this funding since 2008 has been to provide an outreach project 

to the young people in the rural areas.  
 

1.1.5 It is felt that this work with young people has contributed to a reduction of 

young people not engaged in positive youth activities. Young people who are 
not engaged in positive activities are more likely to engage in youth releated 

anti-social behaviour and become NEET (Not in Employment Education or 
Training). Our emphasis on providing positive activity is thought to have 
contributed towards reducing the demand placed on other agencies such as 

the police and statutory services for example, youth offending.  
 

1.1.6 Youth outreach projects are an effective, but sometimes expensive way to 
deliver services for young people in the rural areas. Young people in the rural 

areas who do not always have finances and or transport to access local groups 
that charge for attendance this means that these young people become more 
isolated. As a consequence, they miss out on opportunities to develop a local 

peer group and a platform to become more involved in their local communities.  
 

1.1.7 The outreach service provided has not targeted areas where there is open 
access youth provision running on a free or low cost (under £2) basis. Existing 
groups and other partners have worked with the project to avoid duplication 

and waste of resources.  
 

1.2 
 

Partnership working 

1.2.1 Partnership working is key to the delivery of a rural youth project as the 

council does not have the staffing resources.  It is important that we work 
alongside existing groups, partner organisations and members of the 

community to deliver projects with young people. 
 

1.2.2 In 2014, following a competitive tendering process, St Edmundsbury began 

working with YMCA Suffolk to deliver the rural youth work project. The decision 
was made to combine the rural youth work and the On the Spot Outreach in 

Haverhill for the following reasons: 
 

 to make best use of St Edmundsbury owned assets, in this instance the On 

the Spot vehicle; 
 improve the quality of service being offered to the young people, including 

Page 6



RUR/SE/14/001 

better qualified youth workers; 

 to work with a chosen partner (YMCA Suffolk) to broaden the geographical 
area that the project covered so that, in the long term, external funding 
could be sought  to significantly increase community capacity at a local 

level to deliver youth work; and 
 to work with an organisation with more capacity to manage and develop 

volunteers. 
 

1.2.3 Unfortunately, the rural element of the project did not proceed as originally 

conceived, due to YMCA Suffolk’s lead worker resigning with immediate 
following the second week of delivery of the contract.  

 
1.2.4 As a result, the portfolio holder and RAWP chair were informed at the time and 

the decision was taken not to proceed with the project in 2015. 

 
1.2.5 It was decided that the best option was to cancel the rural element of the work 

because once a new recruitment process was completed the key summer 
window for operating the project would have passed. 
 

1.2.6 In 2015, we intend to work in partnership with Suffolk YMCA. Whilst it was 
disappointing that the rural summer project was not delivered, it is felt 

appropriate to continue our partnership with Suffolk YMCA to deliver a project 
for 2015. The element of the contract that they delivered in Haverhill has been 
well managed and successful. The YMCA Suffolk in the 12 months have 

completed a successful youth project for the Community Safety Partnership.  
 

1.2.7 There were some activities that took place during the October half term 2014 
that ran in Barrow and Wickhambrook these were very well attended especially 

in Barrow where over 20 young people took part in a two day street art 
workshop. This activity was supported by five volunteers from the village that 
are part of the forming Barrow youth project group who have received training 

over the summer and are now looking at options for establishing more lasting 
work. The training element was delivered by a Families and Communities 

Officer responsible for Barrow. 
 

1.2.8 Based on the knowledge that we have developed and looking at the project 

attendance figures over the various year of the rural youth work it is evident 
that there is still a need for this service. 

 
1.2.9 In the past we have sought contributions from Parish Councils to boost the 

offer to young people; we will be doing this again through our Locality Officers. 

 
1.3 Involvement and consultation  

 
1.3.1 
 

The activities that form part of the Rural Youth Work Project have been 
developed through consultation with young people individually or as a group.   

Where possible we consult with small groups in each village, for example a 
youth consultation evening was held in December in Barrow 2014, where the 

work produced at street art workshops were displayed. 
 

1.3.2 

 

Youth involvement is key to delivering services that young people want to use, 

access and value. As part of any contract for services we ensure that there is a 
mechanism for young people to feedback and have an opportunity for 

Page 7



RUR/SE/14/001 

consultation. For example at the end of each set sessions in each village the 

young people complete a project evaluation form and have the opportunity if 
they chose to produce a basic video to provide verbal feedback.  
 

2.0 
 

Rural Youth Work Project 2015 

2.1 
 

Summary of the resource and project information 

2.1.1 The Rural Youth Work Project will run using a purpose designed youth outreach 

vehicle called On the Spot. The borough currently own this resource and it has 
been very successfully operating in Haverhill for a number of years as 

evidenced by feedback from the young people involved and our partners such 
as the police and Town Council. In 2014 the staffing and management of the 
vehicle were transferred to Suffolk YMCA in an effort to streamline our 

tendering and create better value for money.  
 

2.1.2 The On the Spot Vehicle is a specially converted Mercedes Sprinter van, the 
vehicle is converted to a very high standard and offers the following activities 
to young people: 

 
 Sports Equipment 

 Café space  
 Music and DJ Equipment 
 Internet and Media Suite  

 PA System 
 Access to Information, Advice and Guidance for young people 

 X-Box  
 

The project is very youth led with young people choosing the activities that 
they wish to get involved with in a session by session basis. 
 

2.1.3 Locally and nationally youth organisations operate similar mobile youth 
provision in rural areas. For example, Just42 in Woodbridge and the Somerset 

Rural Youth Project operate an outreach project which is well regarded within 
the youth sector.  
 

2.1.4 The project will delivered in the ‘service villages’ in both the north and south of 
the borough. The reason for this is that they going to provide opportunities to 

reach a critical mass of young people ensuring that the project is viable. This is 
evidenced by the data in table one which shows the population per ward of 10 
to 19 year olds (note that data for 11 to 19 year old is not available).  

However, there are opportunities for the youth project to visit villages not 
currently listed on the schedule (see paragraph 5.2 below). 

 
2.1.5 Population of10-19 year olds in 2013 per rural ward: 

 

Population 5 year age band (%) - Persons ONS estimates 

Names 
Population - % Aged 10-19 

2013 Total 

Bardwell 12.3 327 

Barningham 11.3 291 

Barrow 12.0 273 

Cavendish 9.5 192 

Page 8



RUR/SE/14/001 

Chedburgh 9.5 199 

Clare 9.6 193 

Fornham 8.9 178 

Great Barton 11.6 251 

Horringer and 
Whelnetham 11.7 260 

Hundon 7.5 226 

Ixworth 13.5 310 

Kedington 10.9 218 

Pakenham 8.0 277 

Risby 16.3 445 

Rougham 12.5 292 

Stanton 11.4 291 

Wickhambrook 9.6 204 

Withersfield 9.0 200 

   
 

2.1.6 Proposed villages for 2015: 

 
 

Village Number of 
sessions: 

Timetable 

Barrow 9 Tuesday from  May 

Wickhambrook 9 Tuesday from May 

Ixworth  9 Wednesday from May 

Stanton  9 Wednesday from May 

Barningham  9 Tuesday from July 

Bardwell  9 Tuesday from July 

Total: 54  

   
2.2 Communication and Publicity 

 
2.2.1 The Families and Communities Officer responsible for the project with be 

focusing on improving the communications to ensure that the project runs 

smoothly. This will include the creation of a distribution list which includes all 
the key local stakeholders in each village. There will be more joint 

communication press releases between Suffolk YMCA and St Edmundsbury. In 
addition, the locality officers will be supporting the promotion of the project 
with the localities and working with their Councillors.  

 
2.3 Evaluation  

 
2.3.1 We will be discussing better and more insightful evaluation processes with the 

YMCA Suffolk this year.  
 

2.4 Development 

 
2.4.1 In 2015 the project will have a strong focus on engaging adult volunteers in 

the delivery of the project at a local level. This will be led by YMCA Suffolk as 
the contracted organisation for this work. This will be done through promoting 
the opportunities in the various localities that the project is visiting; the 

recruitment of volunteers will be done in accordance with the Suffolk YMCA’s 
volunteer recruitment policy. The recruitment of volunteers will enable local 

communities to become better upskilled and begin looking at opportunities to 
work with young people within their own village. The recruitment of volunteers 

Page 9



RUR/SE/14/001 

does require a level of management and coordination which can be difficult to 

maintain over a long period. The YMCA is better placed than the council to 
support this volunteer recruitment. 
 

2.4.2 As part of the volunteer recruitment process, YMCA Suffolk and Community 
Action Suffolk will be offering youth work training sessions covering basic 

youth work skills, youth participation, safeguarding and health and safety. The 
training will consist of four days in total across the borough.  

 

2.5 Rural Youth Work project budget 
 

2.5.1 The Rural Youth Work Project is funded from existing budgets with £10,600 
available for 2015/16. As agreed at Full Council on 23 September 2014, the 
underspend from 2014/15 of £8,000 has been carried over into the 2015/16 

rural youth budget project making a total budget of £18,600.. It is proposed to 
fund the rural work project as follows: 

 

£1,000 Marketing and publicity campaign (including school promotional 

design, printing and Facebook advertising campaign) 

£2,000 Training sessions for community volunteers 

£1,500 Running cost for vehicle 

£14,300 Session delivery 

£18,000 Total 
 

2.5.2 There are opportunities for Parish Councils to contribute to either bring the 

project to their village or increase the number of sessions delivered. 
Councillors may use their locality budgets to do the same but this will need to 

be done directly with Suffolk YMCA.  
 

 There will be a number of options that have costs worked out, for example 
£500 would buy in a day’s session with a workshop attached for example 
circus skills or street art. Alternatively, it could be used to buy in four weeks of 

sessions.  
 

2.6 Future plans 
 

2.6.1 We will consider the future plans for rural youth work based on analysis of the 

2015 project and on further exploration and understanding of the need. More 
detailed consultation with young people and ward members will take place in 

2015. 
2.6.2 While the 2014’s rural project was very disappointing we have over five years 

of successful evidence from previously delivery under the ‘Wos Up’ project in 

the rural areas, including high attendance.  Lessons have been learned from 
the 2014 project and it is hoped that as a result a strong 2015 project of 

activities can be delivered.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 10



RUR/SE/14/001 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

‘Wos Up’ Youth Project Attendance per village 2008 – 2013  

 

2008 to 2013 

 

Table display number of visits to the overall  

 

Village 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Ixworth  33 103 5 87 18 30 

Stanton 137 272 99 112 41 106 

Barrow 65 185 89 171 36 57 

Kedington 140 98 23 53 4 8 

Great Barton 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Wickhambrook 44 15 44 54 36 45 

Stradishall N/A N/A 0 N/A N/A N/A 

Barningham N/A 235 46 62 N/A N/A 

Rougham N/A 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Gt Whelnetham N/A 0 82 33 0 18 

Hundon  N/A N/A 79 11 3 15 

RAF Honington N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 50 

TOTAL ATTENDANCE  

( Individual 

attendances)  

440 908 467 583 156 349 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SPARSE Press Release 22nd December 2014 
 
Countryside communities will be hit hard by the latest round of 
government cuts, England's largest rural network has warned.     
 
The government's finance settlement for local authorities [1] fails to meet the 
needs of hard-pressed rural councils, said the Rural Services Network [2].      
 
Network chief executive Graham Biggs said: "This settlement will hit 
countryside communities hard - and will see some services cut to the 
bone."     
 
A welcome £4m funding increase which takes the government's rural services 
delivery grant to £15.5m would not be enough when spread across the 
country as a whole.     
 
A government study which recognised the higher cost of delivering some rural 
services, should now be extended to cover all service areas, said Mr 
Biggs.     
 
Mr Biggs said: "The Rural Services Network has long campaigned for fairer 
funding for rural areas which have long been underfunded and we will 
continue to do so."     
 
"Despite some additional funds, cuts to the overall grant for local authorities 
hit rural communities hard because they already start from a disadvantaged 
position.” 
 
"More importantly rural residents receive £153 less in government grant 
compared to urban areas and their council tax is on average £81 higher.” 
  
"We call on the Government to right the historic wrongs and provide a fair 
distribution of the settlement to rural residents." 

 
ENDS.   
  
Media contact:  Graham Biggs  Rural Services Network 
E: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk  T: 01588 674 922  M: 07966 790197 
 
Notes to editors     
1. Local Government Minister Kris Hopkins announced the provisional local 
government finance settlement for 2015 to 2016 on Thursday (18 December 
2014). His oral statement to Parliament can be seen at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/provisional-local-government-
finance-settlement-2015-to-2016     
2. The Rural Services Network is a group of more than 200 organisations 
working together to improve the delivery of rural services across England. The 
two operating arms of the network are the Sparsity Partnership for Authorities 
Delivering Rural Services (SPARSE) and the Rural Services Partnership. 
Further information and a full list of members are available at 

RUR/SE/15/002 a  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-2015-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-2015-to-2016


http://www.rsnonline.org.uk     
3. The Rural Services Network seeks to establish best practice across the 
spectrum of rural service provision. The network has representation across 
the complete range of rural services, including local authorities, public bodies, 
businesses, charities and voluntary groups. We are devoted to safeguarding 
and improving services in rural communities across England. We are the only 
national network specifically focusing on this vital aspect of rural life. 
4. The Rural Services Network exists to ensure services delivered to the 
communities of predominantly and significantly rural England are as strong 
and as effective as possible. The term 'predominately rural' refers to counties 
and Local Authority districts with at least 50 percent of their population living 
in rural settlements (ie. rural towns, villages, hamlets and dispersed dwellings) 
as identified in the Office for National Statistics' rural definition, and including 
larger market towns as identified in the Defra classification of Local Authority 
districts. The term 'significant rural' refers to those Local Authorities who are 
between 25% and 50% rural under the same classification. The rural definition 
and classification were devised by the Rural Evidence Research Centre 
(RERC) at Birkbeck College. Further information on these can be found on 
the RERC website at www.rerc.ac.uk. 

Page 14

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
http://www.rerc.ac.uk/


 
 

Providing a voice for rural communities and service providers 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS, Chief Executive   PO Box 101, Craven Arms, SY7 7AL 

Tel: 01588 674922 

www.rsnonline.org.uk   email: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk   twitter: @rsnonline 

 
 

22nd November 2014 

 

Rt. Hon. Eric Pickles MP 

Secretary of State for Communities and 

Local Government, 

2, Marsham Street, 

LONDON SW1p 4DF 

 

Dear Secretary of State, 

 

Re: Study into cost of delivering rural services 

 

Further to our letters of 14th of August to Brandon Lewis and Kris Hopkins we are 

writing to you alongside the report from LG Futures on the DCLG and DEFRA study 

into whether rural authorities face additional and unavoidable costs in delivering 

services compared to urban authorities. 

 

As you are aware we welcomed the study as an opportunity to explore rural costs 

and we acknowledge the positive findings that have been recognised between a 

number of services and sparsity.   We consider these are important findings, they 

constitute the first time that government commissioned work has established sparsity 

as a factor influencing service cost. 

 

Of the expenditure groups considered in the report, sparsity was found to be 

positively and significantly related to unit costs in services accounting for £7.0bn of 

local authority expenditure in 12/13.  These relate to a number of services such as 

waste collection, regulatory services and economic research and development.  

These services are vital to rural communities and the economy of the local area and 

therefore should be fairly and adequately funded.  

 

The summary report highlights where the research revealed additional costs 

associated with sparsity but also a number of areas where limited cost and activity 

data make it difficult to establish a relationship between sparsity and unit costs. 

RUR/SE/15/002 b  

Page 15

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk


 
 

Providing a voice for rural communities and service providers 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS, Chief Executive   PO Box 101, Craven Arms, SY7 7AL 

Tel: 01588 674922 

www.rsnonline.org.uk   email: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk   twitter: @rsnonline 

 
 

There are a number of services where there was found to be a lack of supporting 

evidence and even a negative relationship between sparsity and unit costs.  It is 

important this is fully understood.  In our view this can be explained by low or non-

existent provision of many of these services.  The research is based on Revenue 

Outturn Expenditure returns for local authorities, or more simply, how much did local 

authorities spend on particular services.  Rural local authorities have been 

underfunded for a large number of years due to understatement of the additional 

‘sparsity’ cost of delivery.  This has led to reduced levels of spending on certain 

services when compared to urban authorities. 

  

Public Transport is a key example of this where the service is provided very 

sparingly in rural areas due to the very high cost of providing a universal service.  

Relatively low numbers of the population are able to access the service due to the 

low provision capable of being funded.  The low costs should not be misconstrued as 

provision being less expensive in rural areas but rather the significantly lower levels 

of provision in those areas associated with higher unit costs and low levels of overall 

funding. In fact, we believe that many of the areas highlighted in the report as having 

a negative correlation between sparsity and unit costs, are explained by none or 

partial provision associated with historically low government funding for rural areas.   

 

We categorically do not want historical underfunding and therefore lack of provision, 

or low levels of provision in rural areas, to result in a negative implication for 

equitable funding of rural areas.   

 

Rural residents would find it hard to understand the sense in a system that 

historically underfunds their services, and then produces evidence that their services 

are not expensive as they are not provided, to justify not providing adequate funding 

in the future, particularly at a time when further cuts are being made. 

 

The report also highlighted broadband as an issue for rural communities. 

Page 16

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk


 
 

Providing a voice for rural communities and service providers 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS, Chief Executive   PO Box 101, Craven Arms, SY7 7AL 

Tel: 01588 674922 

www.rsnonline.org.uk   email: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk   twitter: @rsnonline 

 
 

Rural areas are often behind urban areas in terms of the roll out of new technology 

for both broadband and mobile phone advances.  The market provides for these 

‘universal’ services in urban areas but rural areas are left fighting for a share of the 

coverage.  Rural Authorities (unlike their urban counterparts) have already had to 

inject their own funds from shrinking resources to either match fund government 

initiatives or directly incentivise schemes.  This will continue to be a problem year on 

year as technology advances and the development of the market mean that rural 

areas are left behind.  With the Business Rate Retention Scheme, councils are keen 

to see economic growth in their area however for rural area with poor broadband or 

mobile phone reception, it can be difficult to entice businesses to develop within their 

boundaries. 

 

In order to ensure access to services for all residents, rural areas often have to 

invest in more localised services or hubs rather than centralising operations in one 

location.  This can result in additional costs for rural authorities that urban authorities 

don’t have to face.  Transformation Challenge Funding has helped rural areas to 

develop specific initiatives however this has not been available across all authorities. 

A number of our members are looking at such initiatives and would welcome the 

opportunity to receive targeted support to overcome some of the issues caused by 

population dispersal and settlement patterns. 

 

Although we accept the limitations set out in the report in respect of available data, 

we do feel that there is sufficient to show that sparsity impacts on the cost of service 

delivery to make the existing relationship between sparsity and density in the formula 

unsustainable. The findings simply do not support past ministerial judgement that 

density (in the district and county EPCS services) should have a weighting that is 

very considerably greater than sparsity in the formula. 

 

We appreciate that the Local Government Finance Settlement consultation has now 

closed which makes it difficult for you to materially alter the settlement for 15-16.  

However based on the evidence within the study which shows a positive correlation 

between sparsity and increased costs we ask you for a very significant increase in 

the Rural Services Delivery Grant for 15-16 as an interim measure. 

Page 17

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk


 
 

Providing a voice for rural communities and service providers 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS, Chief Executive   PO Box 101, Craven Arms, SY7 7AL 

Tel: 01588 674922 

www.rsnonline.org.uk   email: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk   twitter: @rsnonline 

 
 

 

Changes were made to the formula in 2012-13 to increase the sparsity element 

however as you are aware this has resulted in over 75% of funding being taken away 

through the damping mechanism and other changes to the formulae.  This is being 

lost to rural authorities year on year at a time when all authorities are receiving equal 

funding cuts.  

 

While much of the ‘increased’ sparsity element has been frozen by this 

administration, previous governments have seen fit to introduce through ministerial 

judgement and with no governmental research, an enhanced density factor that is 

many times the size of the sparsity factor and as such has a significant influence in 

each annual settlement.  

 

This has contributed to a position where in 2014/15 rural authorities receive an 

average £329 per resident of Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA), compared with 

£483 in urban authorities. Urban authorities receive a further £25 per head more in 

other government grants making the disparity in Government funded spending power 

£178 per head in favour of urban residents. As welcome as Rural Services Delivery 

Grant is, at current levels it is worth less than a pound per head in rural areas. 

 

The consequence of historic underfunding of rural areas is, not surprisingly, higher 

Council Taxes in rural areas. Last year, the average rural resident paid £79 per head 

more in Council Tax than those living in urban authorities. So rural residents pay 

more in Council Tax from lower wages to receive less Spending Power. 

 

This position will not change in 2015/16 given the equal cuts to all authorities. We 

accordingly ask government to use their ministerial discretion to fully ensure that the 

findings that have been able to be established at this stage with this report, and 

those recognised in 2012-13 are acted upon. This would require a significant 

increase in both the amount and the breadth of eligibility for the Rural Services 

Delivery Grant for 15/16. 

Page 18

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk


 
 

Providing a voice for rural communities and service providers 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS, Chief Executive   PO Box 101, Craven Arms, SY7 7AL 

Tel: 01588 674922 

www.rsnonline.org.uk   email: graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk   twitter: @rsnonline 

 
 

Given the findings of the report, we would ask for the following: 

 

 A very significant increase in the Rural Services Delivery Grant and a 
widening of the eligibility criteria as the addition costs are not just limited to 
super-sparse authorities.  With a difference of £178 per head in government 
funded spending power, this must be increased to significantly close the gap 
between rural and urban. 

 

 A specific amount of funding for rural authorities to bid for, potentially with the 
support of the Transformation Network, to enable them to innovatively 
ameliorate some of the issues of sparsity which have been acknowledged in 
the report as relevant. 

 

 Further research in the areas that LG Futures has highlighted.  There is 
sufficient evidence in the study to ensure that there is a renewed effort to seek 
more detailed information.  Resources should be made available to enable a 
sample of local authorities to put in place mechanisms to collect relevant 
information to provide a full analysis of rural cost of service delivery. 

 

Rural areas are currently suffering disproportionately at a time of hardship. It is 

inequitable and unfair to rural residents to go on like this and action now needs to be 

taken.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

Graham Biggs MBE, FCIS 

Chief Executive 

 

 

Copied to: Kris Hopkins, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State 

For Communities and Local Government 

Page 19

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/
mailto:graham.biggs@sparse.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Jude Ranasinghe 

Director 

E.jude.ranasinghe@lgfutures.co.uk 

T.01908 410 811 

FINANCE WITH VISION 

LG Futures, Marlowe House, Watling Street, Hockliffe, Leighton Buzzard LU7 9LS   |   www.lgfutures.co.uk   |  T. 01908 410811 

LG Futures Ltd. Incorporated in England and Wales under registration number: 05308266  |  VAT registration number: 855940493 

DCLG/DEFRA  
Research into Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas 

Summary Report 

December 2014 

RUR.SE.15.002c

Page 21



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 2

Contents 

1. Background and methodology ........................................................... 3

2. Research constraints ......................................................................... 6

3. Summary of research findings ........................................................... 9

4 Sampling ......................................................................................... 15

5. Rapid Evidence Assessment – literature review .............................. 18

6. Desktop analysis of administrative/statistical datasets .................... 19

7. Quantitative survey with authorities ................................................. 25

8 Qualitative interviews with authorities .............................................. 30

Page 22



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 3

1. Background and methodology

1.1 In July 2014, LG Futures was commissioned by DCLG/DEFRA to undertake Research into
Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas. The overall objective of the research was to
establish whether and, if so, to what extent, rural authorities face additional and unavoidable
costs in delivering services, compared to urban authorities. In addition to DCLG/DEFRA, the
Advisory Group for the research also involved the Local Government Association and the
Rural Services Network.

1.2 The data, evidence and conclusions from the research are intended to assist DCLG and
DEFRA in developing a better understanding of the current relative pressures experienced
by rural local authorities and form part of the evidence base for future decisions on rural
funding.

1.3 The specific aims of the research were to:

 Review the evidence for costs and cost drivers for rural and non-rural service delivery

 Measure and attribute the unit costs of local authority services as accurately as
possible, given the evidence

 Determine the differences between rural and non-rural costs, and any unavoidable
costs for rural areas, which are additional to those for non-rural areas

1.4 In order to address these aims, the research involved a number of individual workstreams, 
as follows: 

Rapid Evidence Assessment - literature review 

1.5 The intention of the literature review was to draw together and report on the evidence 
already in existence in relation to rural costs from a range of different sources and 
publications.  The literature review sought to identify whether previous research had 
documented additional costs associated with rurality for local government services; the types 
of services that research had taken place on; the extent to which any such costs were 
quantified; whether detailed statistical evidence existed; and funding methodologies in place 
to take account of rurality factors.  The literature review also informed the selection of 
services for survey with local authorities (see below). 

Desktop analysis of administrative/statistical datasets  

1.6 The purpose of this analysis was to use the most recent expenditure and activity data at a 
more detailed level than currently used for regressions within the Relative Needs Formulae 
(RNF) in the local government finance settlement, to compare unit costs for all authorities 
nationally.  The analysis aimed to identify whether, and to what extent, there were potential 
relationships between the unit costs of local government services and rurality factors.  

1.7 This took place through a preliminary regression analysis of unit costs for local authority 
services, derived from national local authority level actual data (Revenue Outturn 2012/13 
forms), with relevant service-based denominators for individual services. The regression 
analysis was not intended to provide detailed or comprehensive models of the drivers of 
spending, and the findings should be considered indicative results only. In addition to the 
national analysis, separate follow-up analysis took place of national Fire and Rescue 

Page 23



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 4

Statistics, as it was identified that this service was likely to be more suited to desktop 
analysis, rather than survey. 

Quantitative survey with authorities  

1.8 Whilst the national unit costs analysis above enabled all authorities to be compared 
nationally, there were limitations to this analysis, in that the data was only available at 
individual local authority level, rather than areas of differing rurality within local authorities, 
and did not have detailed breakdowns of subjective costs e.g. transport, premises.  In 
addition, the research sought to identify specific views from authorities on potential additional 
costs within individual services, whether geographical premia existed and more detailed 
activity information on factors likely to affect rural authorities, such as downtime i.e. 
unproductive time arising from travelling to deliver services, rather than the actual 
performance of the service itself. 

1.9 To take account of these additional areas, an online survey was developed and data 
collection took place on actual local authority expenditure and activity for 2013/14, including 
within differing geographical areas of individual authorities.  The survey covered ten local 
authority services where it was initially identified in discussions with DCLG/DEFRA that there 
could potentially be additional costs associated with rurality. 27 local authorities returned 
data from the survey and authorities were classified into groups of differing rurality in order to 
allow comparisons to take place. 

Qualitative fieldwork with authorities 

1.10 It was recognised that, in addition to the ten local authority services surveyed above, there 
were likely to be further services and ‘cross-cutting’ aspects of service delivery e.g. 
community engagement, channel shift (e.g. moving services from face to face/telephone 
contact to web-enabled), for which it would be more difficult to directly quantify costs.  Semi-
structured interviews therefore took place with a range of local authority stakeholders, 
focusing upon broader questions relating to rurality and costs, with 15 authorities (a sub-set 
of the 27 authorities above), taking part in the qualitative fieldwork. 

Scope of this report 

1.11 Separate standalone reports have been produced which provide detailed findings on each of 
the above workstreams.  This summary report sets out the overall findings from the research 
and draws together the main conclusions from each of the above workstreams.   

Acknowledgements 

1.12 The research team would like to thank all local authorities that volunteered to take part in the 
research, particularly those who participated in the survey and interview fieldwork, in addition 
to the members of the Advisory Group, who provided input throughout the course of the 
research.  We would also like to thank CIPFA for providing the research team with access to 
their Fire and Rescue Statistics. 

Page 24



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 5

Page 25



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 6

2. Research constraints

2.1 In considering the original research aims and the implications of the research findings as to
whether additional unavoidable service costs exist as a result of rurality, a number of factors
need to be borne in mind.   These factors are discussed in turn below.

Unavoidable costs 

2.2 Precisely defining what is represented by an ‘unavoidable’ cost is difficult, given that there is 
differing scope for interpretation.  Unavoidable costs might generally be taken to mean those 
which arise as a result of factors beyond an authority’s control, such as the geographical size 
of an authority.  However, even so, there are clearly a number of different ways in which 
policy/service choices can be made to address such factors, and so authorities might feel 
that most of their costs are unavoidable.   

2.3 In addition, a measure of service quality would also need to be considered in order to identify 
whether a significantly higher quality or volume of service was being provided as a deliberate 
policy choice; however, given that there is often no defined ‘standard’ level of service, this is 
difficult to determine.  There is also scope for alternative views as to measures of service 
quality e.g. which performance indicators/outcomes best define this.   

2.4 For these reasons, data was requested on aspects of services which were considered most 
likely to result in unavoidable costs; for example, downtime or fixed costs, rather than 
assessing whether or not costs could be ‘avoided’, given that this would involve subjective 
judgement.  In some cases, where identified in this report, adjustments to costs were made 
to take account of regional cost variations, using the Area Cost Adjustment (ACA). However, 
with the exception of the national unit costs analysis, where sufficient data existed to 
undertake more detailed statistical analysis, further controls/adjustments for other factors 
giving rise to potential cost differences e.g. deprivation, were not applied. 

Interaction between funding levels and expenditure 

2.5 When considering the outcome of the national unit costs analysis and local authority survey, 
there is an implicit assumption that patterns of current expenditure are at least a reasonable 
proxy for underlying need. In other words, differences in expenditure between local 
authorities are assumed to reflect differences in the real costs associated with providing 
those services. There is the risk, however, that differences between predominantly 
rural/sparse authorities and densely populated/urban authorities reflect current funding 
patterns, not just differences in costs.  

2.6 This is a particular issue given that the local authority funding system is relatively centralised 
in nature and constrained in terms of council tax increases.   Authorities will therefore only be 
able to spend at the level of resources that they are provided with centrally and can generate 
locally, rather than spending on a ‘bottom-up’ need basis.  So, for instance, if sparse 
authorities were to be relatively ‘underfunded’, this could result in lower expenditure patterns, 
but may not necessarily mean that such authorities need to spend less to deliver the same 
services.   

Page 26



 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

FINANCE WITH VISION 7

Comparisons between authorities of differing rurality 

2.7 The research sought to involve authorities across all types of ruralities, from the most rural to 
the most urban and all authorities nationally were invited to take part in the research. 
However, there was considerably greater interest from authorities from more rural areas, 
despite the research team contacting a number of representative urban authority groupings 
to seek participation.   

2.8 The national unit costs analysis allows for comparison across all authorities (subject to the 
caveats above), but the quantitative survey and qualitative interviews with authorities were 
based on a sample of authorities that volunteered (27 and 15 respectively).  Although, for the 
purposes of sampling and the survey analysis, authorities were divided into groupings based 
on relative rurality (‘sparse’, ‘less sparse’ and ‘non-sparse’), and all of the more urban 
authorities that volunteered were included in the research, there could be scope for the 
survey analysis and comparisons to be affected by the nature of authorities 
volunteering/participating. 

Availability of cost and activity data 

2.9 There were relatively few instances where authorities were able to provide specific 
quantitative information on the direct additional unavoidable costs associated with delivering 
services as a result of their authority’s geography; although factors which were perceived to 
influence costs (with both a rural and urban focus) were identified as part of the narrative. 
This applied to both rural and urban authorities.  This issue is likely to equally apply to other 
factors; for example, if authorities were asked to identify the direct additional costs 
associated with, say, deprivation. 

2.10 For services which are delivered externally, specific geographical premia were not generally 
built into contracts. This does not necessarily mean that rurality is not an additional cost 
represented within contracts, but rather that contractors are likely to average the costs of 
rurality, along with any other cost weightings, over the contract for the whole authority.   

2.11 The survey asked authorities to provide best estimates for a range of geographical factors, 
such as the proportion of visits to different geographical areas within their authority and the 
amount of non-productive ‘downtime’ for visits to these differing areas. However, authorities 
do not generally manage their services on a geographical basis, and so, whilst this data is 
useful for providing indications and to reach general conclusions, it was not robust enough to 
provide a detailed costed analysis. This is because, unless authorities have undertaken 
specific detailed work to investigate geographical costs, authorities do not hold cost data in a 
format that allows them to readily identify the costs of provision in differing geographical 
areas within their authority. 

2.12 For some questions within the survey, response rates were relatively low, which could 
influence averages.  For example, in some cases, ‘less sparse’ authorities may have 
identified greater travel time/costs than ‘sparse’ authorities. This could partly be influenced 
by response rates and also by factors such as the relative geographical size of authorities 
e.g. if a much larger authority was within the ‘less sparse’ grouping. 

Page 27



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 8 

 

Funding baseline 

2.13 The caveats above generally apply to data on expenditure and the difficulties associated with 
defining ‘unavoidable’ costs.  However, even where information gathered suggests that there 
are likely to be additional costs associated with service provision in rural areas, there 
remains a wider question in terms of to what extent these costs are (or are not) already 
funded within the local authority funding system.   

2.14 Specific rural funding is directly identifiable for the Rural Services Delivery Grant (£9.5m 
nationally in 2014/15) and the subsequent Section 31 ‘top-up’ grant (£2m nationally in 
2014/15).  However, although certain Relative Needs Formulae include sparsity indicators, it 
is not possible to directly associate the inclusion of such indicators with actual funding levels.  

2.15 This is a result of a number of factors, including there being no direct link between needs and 
funding amounts, as the four block model expresses need in RNF rather than funding terms; 
damping within the system, meaning that further funding adjustments take place to support 
authorities below the funding floor; and, most recently, the introduction of the business rates 
retention system, with authorities’ funding levels therefore also being dependent upon the 
level of business rates generated, compared to assumptions. 

2.16 Even where additional costs can be identified and are considered ‘unavoidable’, there is, 
therefore, still scope for debate as to whether and the extent to which existing funding takes 
these costs into account.  This is clearly not just an issue associated with rurality, but could 
be applied to other factors affecting service costs and which are included within the local 
government funding system, such as deprivation, for example. 

Service quality 

2.17 For the quantitative analysis undertaken in national unit costs work, it was not possible to 
adjust the spending data for the quality of the service provided. Therefore, differences in unit 
costs may actually reflect differences in the quality of the service provided by local 
authorities. While issues of service quality are discussed in the qualitative report, this caveat 
should be borne in mind while interpreting the regression results presented. 

  

Page 28



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 9 

 

3. Summary of research findings 

3.1  In overall terms, synthesising the results from all of the individual workstreams, the main 
conclusions from the Research into Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas are: 

 When considering costs, it is not possible to readily separate out those which are 
‘avoidable’, given the range of ways in which policy choices over service delivery can 
be made. 

 There are limitations in the availability of cost and activity data at geographical level 
within authorities, which makes it difficult to explicitly identify direct additional costs. 

 However, where services involve a significant degree of travel, there is a general 
tendency for more rural authorities to have greater costs associated with travel claims 
and for more rural areas of authorities to have greater associated travel downtime.  
Although estimates can be made of these effects, data is not sufficiently robust to 
allow detailed costings. 

 Subject to several assumptions and limitations laid out more fully below, national unit 
costs analysis identified that sparsity measures (which were used as a proxy for 
rurality), were found to be positively and significantly related to unit costs in 11 
services. These services accounted for a relatively small proportion of overall local 
authority spending - £7.0bn (or 15.0%) nationally in 2012/13.  Sparsity was 
significantly and negatively associated with unit costs in 15 services. These 
expenditure groups accounted for £14.6bn (or 31.1%) of total expenditure, with there 
being no statistically significant relationship between sparsity and unit costs for the 
remaining services.   

 From the survey of local authorities, the services where rural premia could most 
readily be identified by authorities were domiciliary care and residential care; 
however, no statistically significant relationship with sparsity was identified in the 
national unit costs analysis. 
 

 Within waste collection, activity levels (e.g. numbers of properties serviced, round 
length), imply additional costs of delivery in rural areas; however, cost data was not 
available to support this, with the exception of one rural authority that had undertaken 
previous detailed work in this area. 

 For fire and rescue services, total expenditure was not significantly related to sparsity 
for sparse authorities.  Further analysis undertaken identified higher fixed costs; lower 
employee costs; higher proportions of primary fires; and longer response times in 
more rural authorities. 

 Service levels were not identified as being different for needs-based services e.g. 
social care.  Service levels were also generally not identified as being significantly 
different in rural areas of authorities compared to urban areas for universal services 
i.e. those that are provided to all residents, such as waste collection, for example, 
although some authorities believed that there were lower expectations amongst some 
rural communities. 

 Wider issues were also identified through interviews with authorities, in terms of less 

Page 29



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 10 

 

tangible costs associated with rural service delivery. These included, for example, 
barriers in relation to reducing service costs through channel shift, due to lack of or 
prohibitively high costs of broadband access, and the need for greater community 
engagement to reduce social isolation and reduce future demand.  Such costs were 
not, however, possible to quantify. 

 There was no clear view from authorities of a particular indicator perceived to be 
preferable to the current ‘sparsity’ indicator used in the local government finance 
settlement. 

3.2 The key findings from the individual research workstreams are as follows: 

Literature review 

3.3 This highlighted the difficulties identified above, in that, although there is a significant amount 
of research relating to rural areas, very little of this evidence has been quantified in financial 
terms and much of the evidence on costs is anecdotal in nature. Higher costs within the 
literature review were generally identified as being related to longer travel times, higher travel 
costs, diseconomies of scale and lack of alternative services, with these factors also being 
investigated and raised in this research, through the quantitative survey and qualitative 
interviews with authorities.   

3.4 The literature review also identified a number of alternative definitions of ‘sparsity/rurality’ 
used in allocating additional resources to rural areas, which are dependent upon the service 
in question and the population served.  It was also identified that allocation bases for rurality-
related factors were not necessarily able to be determined based on detailed representative 
statistical analysis. 

National analysis of unit costs 

3.5 This analysis attempted to identify the extent to which there was a statistically significant1 
positive or negative relationship between measures of sparsity (as a proxy for rurality) and 
unit costs. It is subject to several limitations and assumptions: 

 It is assumed that patterns of current expenditure are a reasonable proxy for 
underlying need. 

 The spending data is not adjusted for the quality of the service provided – lower unit 
costs may reflect a lower quality of service. 

 The number of control variables used was limited, and, as such, the analysis provides 
only a partial explanation of the drivers of spending. There may be additional factors 
not considered which drive the observed variation in unit costs. 

 The statistical methods used have not been fully tested for robustness. The results 
presented should not be considered comprehensive or complete.  

                                                

1
 Results were deemed statistically significant where the P-value is less than 0.05.  

Page 30



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 11 

 

3.6 With these caveats noted, of the 51 local authority service expenditure groups, sparsity was 
found to be positively and significantly related to unit costs in 11 cases. These services 
accounted for £7.0bn (or 15.0%) of local authorities’ total expenditure in 2012/13.  The 
services where a positive relationship was identified (in order of the magnitude of the change 
in unit costs following a change in sparsity) were: parking; coroners’ courts; winter service; 
homelessness; tourism; regulatory services (e.g. trading standards, licensing, environmental 
protection etc.); waste collection; other environmental/regulatory services; waste 
disposal/recycling; corporate & democratic core; and economic research & development. 

3.7 Sparsity was significantly and negatively associated with unit costs in 15 cases. These 
expenditure groups accounted for £14.6bn (or 31.1%) of total expenditure in 2012/13.  The 
services where a negative relationship was identified (in order of the magnitude of the 
change in unit costs following a change in sparsity) were: public transport; street lighting; 
libraries; open spaces; traffic management & road safety; community fire safety; adults under 
65 with learning disabilities; transport planning, policy & strategy; environmental safety & 
routine maintenance; other children and family services; development control; community 
safety; street cleansing; housing strategy, advice, advances; and culture & heritage. 

3.8 In the remaining 25 cases, sparsity was not found to have a statistically significant effect on 
unit costs.   These groups accounted for £25.3bn (or 53.9%) of total expenditure.   

Fire and rescue statistics analysis 

3.9 Although the national unit costs analysis found a positive relationship between sparsity and 
unit costs for Fire & Rescue Operations, this relationship was not statistically significant, 
despite being close to the significance threshold. Further analysis of national fire and rescue 
statistics subsequently took place, which identified: 

 Stations, Appliances and Staff – Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) in sparse 
areas were found to have a higher number of stations, operational appliances and 
staff relative to the number of incidents responded to, meaning that sparse authorities 
could face diseconomies of scale in comparison to urban authorities.  

 Differences in Staffing Structures – Sparse FRAs were found to have a significantly 
higher proportion of retained vs. wholetime fire fighters. This appears to translate to 
lower wage and salary costs, with sparse authorities having significantly lower 
employment costs per FTE member of staff.  

 Differences in Incidents Attended – The number of incidents per resident was only 
weakly related to sparsity, with rural FRAs attending fewer incidents per resident. This 
was mostly due to a lower rate of fire incidents, offset by a higher rate of non-fire 
incidents, mostly traffic-related. Of the fire incidents that did occur, the proportion of 
primary fires was higher in rural authorities (47%) than urban ones (36%). 

 Differences in Service Levels – Service levels were assessed based on (i) casualty 
rates and (ii) emergency response times. There did not appear to be significant 
differences in casualty rates between rural and urban areas, although response times 
were systematically higher in sparse authorities.    

Page 31



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 12 

 

Quantitative survey of local authorities 

3.10 The key messages from the quantitative survey were as follows: 
 

 Travel claims. Where services involve a significant degree of travel e.g. to undertake 
visits, inspections, assessments etc., there is a general tendency for sparse and less 
sparse authorities to have greater costs associated with travel claims. 
 

 Travel downtime. There is a general trend across authorities of all types of rurality for 
downtime associated with travel to be highest in more rural locations of the authority 
i.e. village & dispersed, compared to town & fringe, compared to urban areas.  The 
costs of downtime per officer varied according to a wider range of factors e.g. the 
proportion of visits carried out in these geographical areas, but were generally higher 
for sparse and less sparse authorities. 

 
 Agency costs and out of area placements.  Within social care, there was a tendency 

for more rural authorities to have a lower proportion of agency staff costs and a lower 
proportion of expenditure on out of area placements. 

 
 Scope for income generation.  Parking was the main service where it was identified 

that there was significantly more scope for income generation from more urban areas 
for authorities of all types of rurality, with non-sparse authorities generating the 
greatest net income levels. 

 
 Quantification of costs.  Authorities were able to identify a range of geographical 

factors that they believed influenced costs (both rural and urban), but, as identified 
previously, quantifying such factors was more difficult.  There are services where 
evidence suggested that costs should intuitively be greater in rural areas compared to 
urban areas; for example, waste collection, as a result of fewer numbers of properties 
being collected from and greater round lengths identified. However, only one 
authority was able to cost these differences.  For other services, such as Highways 
Maintenance, although potential additional geographical cost drivers were identified, 
authorities were not able to quantify these explicitly.  The ‘averaging out’ of costs 
between all areas of an authority in external contracts also limits the identification of 
such geographical costs.  Rural premia were, however, able to be identified for 
residential care and domiciliary care for a number of authorities, although these 
premia varied significantly, depending upon assumptions made by authorities in 
deriving these premia. 
 

Qualitative interviews with authorities 

3.11 The main themes which rural authorities associated with additional costs were: 
communicating/engaging with large numbers of communities and neighbourhoods; lack of 
'clusters' for commissioning purposes; lack of broadband availability/connectivity; increased 
travel time and costs due to geographical area and transport networks; supply and market 
factors; and greater numbers of contact/access/delivery points being required 

3.12 Although the authorities involved in the qualitative interviews reflected the greater numbers 
of volunteers from rural areas, a range of ‘geographical’ cost issues were also considered 
from authorities with coastal deprived, wider coastal and urban/London characteristics.  
Some of these factors are similar in nature to those for rural authorities, but for different 

Page 32



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 13 

 

reasons e.g. supply factors as a result of lack of geographical capacity for facilities, travel 
time as a result of congestion, whereas other factors were more unique to non-rural 
authorities; for example, population transience/churn; diversity; migration; increased 
daytime/overnight visitors; lack of informal care networks. 

3.13 Authorities identified that almost all services were potentially affected by rurality to some 
extent.  In terms of the services most affected by rurality, a number of these services were 
more prevalently provided in rural areas e.g. home to school transport; rural bus subsidies; 
tourism; countryside services. Other services were identified as being affected as a result of 
distance and travel costs/downtime e.g. waste collection/disposal; domiciliary care; 
regulatory services.   Supply factors were perceived to affect services such as residential 
and domiciliary care.  Greater numbers of fixed access/contact points were seen to affect 
services such as libraries/hubs and lack of income generating opportunities were identified in 
relation to parking services.   

3.14 In terms of access to services/service levels, for ‘universal services’, although differences in 
levels of provision were identified as taking place, this was generally seen to be linked to 
need/risk; for example, more frequent street cleaning taking place in towns compared to 
villages or it being more likely that potholes will be addressed/gritting will take place in areas 
where traffic volume is greatest.  For ‘needs-based services’ e.g. social care, differential 
provision was not considered to exist.   

3.15 In relation to service delivery models, channel shift and asset rationalisation were particular 
models that both rural and urban authorities were implementing, given the need to make 
significant cost savings.  Many rural authorities had focused upon building community 
capacity and exploiting technology to reduce social isolation. Although difficult to directly 
evidence, the intention was that these types of initiatives would lead to cost savings in terms 
of prevention/demand management further down the line e.g. through allowing individuals to 
live more independently, improve health etc.  Libraries were highlighted as a particular 
service area which acted as community hubs and where wider service provision/advice/co-
location took place.   

3.16 Given the differences in the nature of local authorities interviewed, different views were 
expressed in relation to funding to take into account rural factors, and there was no clear 
view of a particular indicator perceived to be preferable to the current ‘sparsity’ indicator. 

Implications for further future research  

3.17 LG Futures was also asked to consider the learning from the research in terms of potential 
further future work, given that this research took place over a relatively short (three month) 
time period.  The main issues identified are:  

 Increasing sample sizes would improve the potential robustness of any survey-type 
analysis and potentially allow authorities to be separated into a broader range of 
sparsity groupings. 

 Greater involvement from more urban authorities would assist comparisons, although 
this is difficult to achieve in practice. 

 However, even with increased sample sizes and participation levels, cost and activity 
data at geographical area level will still not exist in a common format for many 
services or would need to be estimated. 

Page 33



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 14 

 

 To overcome this, detailed work would be required from individual authorities, to cost 
individual activities of exactly the same type in areas of differing rurality, where the 
only differing factor relates to the location of the activity.  This could imply studies 
which are more ‘time and motion’ based, but which would be much more time 
consuming for authorities.   

 Analysis of activity levels could be carried out at more detailed sub-authority 
classifications; for example, Lower Layer Super Output Area, providing that the data 
exists to undertake such analysis, matching this data with expenditure on the specific 
service and modelling to identify whether there are statistically significant 
relationships.  This type of approach has been used in developing adult social care 
funding formulae, but would involve significant input from both local authorities and 
researchers. 

 Specific services could be focused upon in greater depth; for example, waste 
collection and disposal, where activity data more clearly suggests additional costs, 
but where cost data is not currently available at a sufficient level of detail. 

 
 

  

Page 34



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 15 

 

4 Sampling 

4.1 All local authorities nationally were invited to participate in the research, with LG Futures 
being commissioned to collect quantitative data from a minimum of 25 authorities and 
undertake qualitative fieldwork with 15 authorities.  The research team were keen that the 
sample of authorities was as representative as possible and involved both urban and rural 
authorities. 

4.2 Over 90 authorities volunteered to take part in the research, although more authorities 
volunteered from rural areas, despite the research team contacting a number of 
representative urban authority groupings to request participation.   

4.3 A stratified sampling approach was used to identify different local authority groupings. Two 
levels of stratification were used, these being (i) authorities' relative level of rurality, and (ii) 
authorities' functions or responsibilities.  The first of these was intended to ensure that the 
sample is broadly representative of authorities on a continuum from very rural and sparse, at 
one extreme, to urban and densely populated, at the other. The second was intended to 
ensure that the sample is broadly representative of all services that fall within the scope of 
the research. 

4.4 DEFRA's 2011 small area Rural-Urban Classification was used to stratify the sample frame 
on the basis of rurality. For the smallest geography areas (Census Output Areas), this 
classification assigns them to one of ten settlement types, four of which are urban and six of 
which are rural.   

4.5 To simplify the sample selection process, LG Futures further simplified the DEFRA 
categories into three categories: Urban, Town & Fringe, and Village & Dispersed.  When 
selecting the final sample, it was proposed that authorities be divided into three groups: 
'sparse', 'less sparse' and 'non-sparse', based on the proportion of their population falling 
within each Rural-Urban Classification, using these simplified categories.  It should be noted 
that these categories were based on LG Futures’ own definitions, rather than ONS rural-
urban classifications. ‘Cut-offs’ were based upon the percentage of residents living in areas 
classed as village & dispersed or urban, with these being adjusted to ensure that there were 
a sufficient number of authorities in each category. 

4.6 For non-shire districts, the thresholds between the three rurality groups were co-terminus, 
meaning that every authority would fall into one of these three categories (and therefore 
could potentially be included in the final sample). For shire districts, on the other hand, a 
'gap' was introduced between the thresholds, so that some authorities did not fall into any 
category (and would therefore be excluded from the sample). 

4.7 This was undertaken to ensure that the shire districts in each rurality group were sufficiently 
different from one another, in terms of their relative level of rurality. This avoids the situation 
whereby two authorities may be assigned to different rurality groupings, despite having very 
similar characteristics (i.e. where they fall just either side of the threshold). This method also 
reduces the number of local authorities who could be surveyed, and so was only proposed 
for shire districts, given the relatively large number of shire districts who had volunteered to 
participate in the study.   

4.8 Based upon surveying a minimum of 25 authorities, the numbers of authorities that the 
sample sought to include, by rurality level and authority function is shown in Table 4.1 below. 

Page 35



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 16 

 

 

Table 4.1: Numbers of authorities identified for sampling by rurality and function 

2.1 Function(s) Sparse Less Sparse Non Sparse Total 

L 2  1 2 5 

UL/ULF 5 5 5 15 

U/UF 2 2 1 5 

Total 9 8 8 25 

 
L = lower tier 
UL = upper and lower tier functions 
ULF = upper and lower tier functions and fire 
U = upper tier functions 
UF = upper tier functions and fire 

4.9 Further purposive selection subsequently took place, in order to ensure as representative a 
spread of regions as possible, and taking into account authority characteristics e.g. coastal.  
The final list of authorities selected for inclusion in the fieldwork that returned data (27 in 
total) are shown in Table 4.2 below.  In addition, the sub-set of 15 authorities also selected 
for qualitative interview are highlighted with an asterisk.  The terms ‘sparse’, ‘less sparse’ 
and ‘non-sparse’ are clearly relative in nature.   

Table 4.2: Sample authorities selected by rurality, function and region 

Function(s) ‘Sparse’ ‘Less Sparse’ ‘Non-Sparse’ 

L 
(Shire Districts) 

Ryedale (YH) 
West Devon (SW) 
West Lindsey (EM)*  
 
Required = 2 
 

Broadland (E)*  
Shepway (SE) 
 
 
Required = 1 
 

East Staffordshire (WM)* 
Pendle (NW) 
 
 
Required = 2 
 

UL/ULF 
(Unitaries, Met 

Districts, London 
Boroughs) 

East Riding (YH) 
Herefordshire (WM)* 
Shropshire (WM) 
Wiltshire (SW) 
Cornwall (SW)*  
 
 
 
Required = 5 

Bath & NE Somerset (SW) 
Cheshire East (NW)*  
Cheshire West & Chester (NW) 
North Somerset (SW) 
Wakefield (YH)* 
Isle of Wight (SE) 
 
 
Required = 5 

Blackpool (NW)* 
Bournemouth (SW)* 
Lambeth (L)* 
 
 
 
 
 
Required = 5 
 

U/UF 
(County Councils) 

North Yorkshire (YH)* 
Worcestershire (WM) 
Cumbria (NW)* 
Warwickshire (WM) 
 
Required = 2 

Essex (E)* 
Northamptonshire (EM)*  
 
 
 
Required = 2 

Hampshire (SE)* 
 
 
 
 
Required = 1 
 

4.10 As the table shows, minimum numbers of authorities were achieved within each category, 
with the exception of non-sparse UL/ULF authorities, where two authorities dropped out after 

Page 36



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 17 

 

initially volunteering, although all authorities within this category that volunteered to take part 
were included in the sample. 

  

Page 37



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 18 

 

5. Rapid Evidence Assessment – literature review 

5.1 A Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) of the published literature on local authority service 
delivery costs was undertaken, focusing in particular on areas where there is evidence that 
rurality is a driver of additional unavoidable costs for rural authorities, compared to their non-
rural counterparts. A separate standalone report on the literature review has also been 
produced as part of the research. 

5.2 The REA was carried out according to the guidance issued in the Government Magenta 
Book and Toolkit.  LG Futures' adopted the principles of a literature review to examine 
evidence and information relating to costs and delivery issues in rural areas in comparison 
with urban areas. 

5.3 The intention of the literature review was to draw together and report on the evidence 
already in existence in relation to rural costs from a range of different sources and 
publications.  The literature review sought to identify whether previous research had 
documented additional costs associated with rurality for local government services; the types 
of services that research had taken place on; the extent to which any such costs were 
quantified; whether detailed statistical evidence existed; and funding methodologies in place 
to take account of rurality factors.  The literature review also informed the selection of 
services for survey with local authorities. 

5.4 The key findings from the literature review were: 

 There are a variety of different ways in which rural areas receive additional funding 
to compensate for higher costs of service delivery in rural areas in funding formulae 
in England and elsewhere. These methods include, for example, using indicators of 
sparsity, dispersion (to reflect additional time and distance costs) and settlement 
size. Not all of these methods have been determined based on detailed 
representative statistical analysis; 

 There are numerous differing definitions of rurality and sparsity which are used in 
allocating additional resources to rural areas e.g. population density, remoteness 
from population centres, geographical features (e.g. small islands); 

 There is a significant amount of research relating to potential reasons for higher 
costs in rural areas, although very little of this evidence has been quantified in 
financial terms and much of the evidence is anecdotal;  

 Higher costs are generally identified as being related to longer travel times, higher 
travel costs, diseconomies of scale and lack of alternative services; and 

 Recent research on delivering public sector services in rural areas has tended to 
focus on other aspects of rurality, including unmet need, alternative service delivery 
models to overcome issues of rurality, rural deprivation and the impact of cost 
pressures.  

 

  

Page 38



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 19 

 

 

6. Desktop analysis of administrative/statistical 
datasets 

National analysis for all local authority services in scope 

6.1 The aim of this desktop analysis was to assess whether there were statistically significant 
relationships between the costs of service provision and various measures of sparsity, 
rurality and remoteness, with the intention being to use the most recent expenditure and 
activity data at a more detailed level than currently used for regressions within the Relative 
Needs Formulae (RNF) in the local government finance settlement, to compare unit costs for 
all authorities nationally.  The analysis aimed to identify whether, and to what extent, there 
were potential relationships between the unit costs of local government services and rurality 
factors.  

6.2 The general methodology used was to (i) calculate unit costs for local authority services, 
based on actual expenditure data and appropriate service-based denominators, and (ii) test 
for statistical relationships between these unit costs (the dependent variable) and various 
measures of sparsity and rurality, while, in some cases, controlling for relative levels of 
deprivation (the independent variables).  A separate standalone report on the national unit 
costs analysis has also been produced as part of the research.  

6.3 This study was intended to be a preliminary investigation into possible statistical 
relationships between sparsity and service unit costs. As such, it does not aim to develop 
detailed models for each service area, and full regression diagnostics have not been carried 
out to test that the assumptions of linear regression have been met. This should be borne in 
mind when interpreting the results, which should not be considered complete or 
comprehensive.  

6.4 The approach used in this study is similar to the first stage of CLG’s methodology for 
calculating the Relative Needs Formula, in which possible independent variables are 
assessed individually, to determine whether their distribution is related to that of costs. Those 
with the strongest relationship are then further tested to establish firstly, whether their 
distribution is too similar to that of other independent variables (since this can give 
misleading results), and, secondly, which independent variables together explain the 
greatest variation in costs. 

6.5 However  there are a number of key differences, as follows: 

 The analysis is carried out at individual service level. For example, rather than 
examining the relationship between sparsity and expenditure on Environmental, 
Protective and Cultural Services (EPCS), the analysis considered relationships 
between sparsity and specific services within EPCS; for instance, between sparsity 
and waste collection, between sparsity and libraries, and so on. 

 The analysis can therefore use unit costs specific to the service in question. When 
CLG estimates the Relative Needs Formula for EPCS, for example, the variable being 
explained is expenditure per resident, which is the most appropriate denominator for 
such a broad service group. This analysis, on the other hand, is able to use unit costs 

Page 39



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 20 

 

specific to each service. For example, for waste collection, unit costs can be expressed 
in terms of expenditure per domestic property.  

 The analysis focuses on the relationship between unit costs and sparsity, incorporating 
a range of variables. It specifically investigates the relationship between sparsity and 
unit costs by including sparsity in every model from the outset, and relatively limited 
control variables.    

6.6 CLG has not found a statistically significant relationship between sparsity and service 
expenditure in the past. If such a relationship exists, our approach may be more likely to 
identify it due to the three differences noted above - for example, sparsity may be a 
significant variable explaining the variation in local authorities’ waste collection costs, but this 
significance may be lost when explaining the variation in overall EPCS costs.  

6.7 A key assumption underpinning these studies is that differences between authorities reflect 
unavoidable costs, rather than differences in the quality and efficiency of service delivery. In 
other words, it is assumed that patterns of current expenditure are a reasonable proxy for 
underlying need. There are therefore limitations to any such regression analysis; for 
example, given the close relationship between funding and expenditure, lower unit costs 
could also potentially be a reflection of lower levels of funding. 

6.8 Local authorities’ expenditure in 2012/13 (based on the latest available Revenue Outturn 
returns) was organised into 51 service groupings. Unit costs were then calculated for each of 
these categories. Separate statistical models were then estimated for each of these 51 
service groupings, using multiple linear regression analysis. 

6.9 When developing the ‘best’ statistical model for each service, it was necessary to include 
other variables that explain (or control for) differences in unit costs between authorities, in 
addition to sparsity. In this analysis, the control variables were restricted to a set of 
deprivation indicators. Deprivation indicators were chosen as the main control variables, as 
they are one of the main determinants of need in CLG’s Relative Needs Formula.  

6.10 A summary of the results is as follows: 

 Of the 51 expenditure groups considered, sparsity was found to be positively and 
significantly2 related to unit costs in 11 cases. These services accounted for £7.0bn (or 
15.0%) of local authorities’ total expenditure in 2012/13.  

 Sparsity was significantly and negatively associated with unit costs in 15 cases. These 
expenditure groups accounted for £14.6bn (or 31.1%) of total expenditure in 2012/13. 

 In the remaining 25 cases, sparsity was not found to have a statistically significant effect 
on unit costs. These groups accounted for £25.3bn (or 53.9%) of total expenditure.   

6.11 When interpreting these results, a number of caveats must be borne in mind:  

                                                
2
 Throughout this report, results are deemed statistically significant where the P-value is less than 0.05.  

Page 40



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 21 

 

 It has been assumed that that relative expenditure is an adequate proxy for relative 
need, and that differences in expenditure do not reflect differences in funding, service 
quality or efficiency.  

 It is assumed that any differences in unit costs between rural and non-rural areas are 
additional and unavoidable; or at least that avoidable costs are randomly distributed 
across rural and non-rural authorities.  

 Full regression diagnostics have not been carried out, and it is possible that the models 
specified do not meet the basic assumptions of linear regression analysis. 

 The focus on sparsity alone means it is possible that important explanatory variables 
have been excluded. This may mean the relationship between sparsity and service 
costs is over or under stated in the analysis. 

6.12 Figure 1 illustrates those services for which sparsity was found to be statistically significant, 
and whether this was positively or negatively related to unit costs. The results are 
expressed in terms of standardised coefficients; that is, the change in unit costs, in standard 
deviations, following a one standard deviation change in sparsity. 

6.13 Figure 2 illustrates the relative size of each expenditure grouping in terms of total spending 
in 2012/13. As can be seen, those services for which the relationship between sparsity and 
unit costs was positive and statistically significant made up the smallest share of 
expenditure. 

  

Page 41



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 22 

 

Figure 1 – Services affected significantly (P < 0.05) by sparsity and the magnitude 
and direction of the relationship 

 

 Standardised Coefficient   

 
  

Page 42



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 23 

 

Figure 2 – Expenditure share of services grouped by their relationship with sparsity 
 

 

Fire and rescue statistics analysis 

6.14 No requests to participate in the research were received from single purpose Fire Authorities 
and initial discussions with CLG's Fire Research Team also suggested that national analysis 
of fire statistics may be more useful than a survey. Controlling for deprivation, the report 
found a positive relationship between sparsity and unit costs for Fire & Rescue Operations; 
however, this relationship was not statistically significant, despite being close to the 
significance threshold. The report also found a negative and statistically significant 
relationship for Community Fire Safety. The former category accounted for 88% local 
authorities’ spending in 2012/13.  

6.15 Regression analysis was again carried out, this time using total fire and rescue expenditure 
from 2013/14, to supplement the previous analysis, focusing on nationally available fire 
statistics and the research team would like to thank CIPFA for providing us with access to 
their Fire and Rescue Statistics 2014 and acknowledge the source of this data. A separate 
standalone report on the fire and rescue statistics analysis has also been produced as part of 
the research. 

6.16 The analysis was carried out to identify possible explanations for the difference in unit costs 
between sparse and non-sparse authorities. Four key differences were examined: (i) 
differences in the number of stations, appliances and staff, (ii) differences in staffing 
structures which could affect employee costs, (iii) differences in the number and type of 
incidents responded to, and (iv) differences in the level of services provided, measured by 
casualty rates and response times.  The summary results of the analysis are as follows: 

 Differences in Stations, Appliances and Staff – Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) 
in sparse areas were found to have a higher number of stations, operational 
appliances and staff relative to the number of incidents responded to. This supports the 

7,030 

14,607 

25,336 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Positive Negative Not Significant

E
n
g

la
n
d
 B

u
d
g

e
te

d
 E

x
p
e
n
d
iu

tr
e
 

2
0
1

2
/1

3
 (

£
m

) 

Page 43



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 24 

 

argument that sparse authorities face diseconomies of scale in comparison to urban 
authorities, as they incur the same fixed costs necessary to provide emergency 
coverage to all areas, regardless of the number of residents living in those areas.  

 Differences in Staffing Structures – Sparse FRAs were found to have a significantly 
higher proportion of retained vs. wholetime fire fighters. This appears to translate to 
lower wage and salary costs, with sparse authorities having significantly lower 
employment costs per FTE member of staff.  

 Differences in Incidents Attended – The number of incidents per resident was only 
weakly related to sparsity. In 2013/14, rural FRAs attended fewer incidents per 
resident. This was mostly due to a lower rate of fire incidents, offset by a higher rate of 
non-fire incidents, mostly traffic-related. Of the fire incidents that did occur, the 
proportion of primary fires was higher in rural authorities (47%) than urban ones (36%), 
suggesting higher unit costs. 

 Differences in Service Levels – Service levels were assessed based on (i) casualty 
rates and (ii) emergency response times. There did not appear to be significant 
differences in casualty rates between rural and urban areas, although response times 
were systematically higher in sparse authorities.    

  

Page 44



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 25 

 

 

7. Quantitative survey with authorities 

7.1 The quantitative survey of a sample of 27 authorities took place during August/September 
2014. The aim of the survey was to consider more detailed data on costs and activity levels, 
which would be available at sub-local authority level, to identify whether there was evidence 
of any potential unavoidable cost differences in providing services in areas of differing 
rurality, as a result of geographical factors.  A separate standalone report on the quantitative 
survey has also been produced as part of this research. 

7.2 The services for survey were agreed following discussion with DCLG/DEFRA and covered 
the following service areas: 

 Regulatory Services 
 Waste Collection 
 Economic Development and Community Development 
 Building Control and Development Control 
 Temporary Accommodation 
 Parking 
 Libraries 
 Highways Maintenance 
 Adult Social Care 
 Children’s Social Care 

 
7.3 Where possible, the survey requested that authorities provide 2013/14 actual outturn data in 

response to the financial questions, using service definitions and subjective classifications 
based on the Revenue Outturn forms. Service/activity data was also requested for 2013/14. 

7.4 In overall terms, the key messages from the quantitative survey are as follows: 

 Travel claims. Where services involve a significant degree of travel e.g. to undertake 
visits, inspections, assessments etc., there is a general tendency for sparse and less 
sparse authorities to have greater costs associated with travel claims. 
 

 Travel downtime. There is a general trend across authorities of all types of rurality for 
downtime associated with travel to be highest in more rural locations of the authority 
i.e. village & dispersed, compared to town & fringe, compared to urban areas.  The 
costs of downtime per officer varied according to a wider range of factors e.g. the 
proportion of visits carried out in these geographical areas, but were generally higher 
for sparse and less sparse authorities. 

 
 Agency costs and out of area placements.  Within social care, there was a tendency 

for more rural authorities to have a lower proportion of agency staff costs and a lower 
proportion of expenditure on out of area placements. 

 
 Scope for income generation.  Parking was the main service where it was identified 

that there was significantly more scope for income generation from more urban areas 
for authorities of all types of rurality, with non-sparse authorities generating the 
greatest net income levels. 

 

Page 45



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 26 

 

 Quantification of costs.  Authorities were able to identify a range of geographical 
factors that they believed influenced costs (both rural and urban), but quantifying 
such factors was more difficult.  There are services where evidence suggested that 
costs should intuitively be greater in rural areas compared to urban areas; for 
example, waste collection, as a result of fewer numbers of properties being collected 
from and greater round lengths identified. However, only one authority was able to 
cost these differences.  For other services, such as Highways Maintenance, although 
potential additional geographical cost drivers were identified, authorities were not 
able to quantify these explicitly.  The ‘averaging out’ of costs between all areas of an 
authority in external contracts also limits the identification of such geographical costs.  
Rural premia were, however, able to be identified for residential care and domiciliary 
care for a number of authorities, although these premia varied significantly, 
depending upon assumptions made by authorities in deriving these premia. 

7.5 The main conclusions drawn from each of the service surveys have been summarised 
below.   

 Regulatory Services 

 Subjective costs.  In terms of the proportion of income to expenditure, non-sparse 
authorities reported a higher proportion of income generation for regulatory services 
(around 50% higher than sparse and less sparse authorities). This could indicate 
greater potential to generate income for this service area or could reflect lower overall 
costs. 

 Travel claims. There were higher average annual travel claims per officer in sparse 
authorities, 117% higher than in less sparse authorities and 69% higher than in non-
sparse authorities. 

 Travel downtime. Less sparse authorities had the highest notional cost of downtime 
(3.3 times that of non-sparse authorities) from travel, followed by sparse authorities 
(2.8 times that of non-sparse authorities). The results need to be caveated by the low 
response rates here, however. 

 Waste collection 

 Properties per round.  There were considerably lower numbers of properties per 
round across all types of authority in more rural areas. These ranged from there being 
between 1.2 to 4.2 times more properties in an urban compared to a town & fringe 
area and between 2 to 7 times more properties in an urban compared to a village & 
dispersed area, per round. 
 

 Distance per round.  There were also consistently longer distances per round across 
all types of authority in more rural areas. Overall, on average, distances were 1.2 
times greater in a town & fringe area compared to an urban area and 1.9 times 
greater in a village & dispersed area compared to an urban area, per round. 

 
 Costs per round.  Authorities were not generally able to provide costs for individual 

example rounds.  However, one sparse district had previously undertaken detailed 
analysis into the additional costs of providing waste collection in rural areas. The 
conclusions drawn from this detailed analysis were that, on average, village 
properties were 1.64 times more costly to collect from than town properties, and, on 
average, properties in hamlets and isolated rural dwellings were 2.78 times more 

Page 46



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 27 

 

costly to collect from than town properties.  This was identified as being related to the 
additional length of the round and greater distance between properties in more rural 
areas, given that the same vehicle and crew were used in the comparisons. 

 Building and Development Control 

 Travel claims.  Average travel claims per officer in sparse authorities were 25% 
higher than non-sparse authorities and 46% higher than in less sparse authorities. 

 
 Travel downtime. There were higher levels of downtime in sparse authorities - 60% 

higher than in less sparse authorities and 38% higher than in non-sparse authorities.  
Less sparse authorities, however, had the highest cost of downtime, around 1.4 
times that of sparse authorities and around 1.3 times that of non-sparse authorities.  

 Temporary Accommodation 

 The survey investigated what types of solutions to homelessness are used by 
different types of authority and the degree to which costs vary between the different 
categories. Non-sparse authorities reported less usage of lower cost options, such 
as accommodation within their own stock, although this is linked to the level of 
availability of such stock.  Overall, weekly rates were significantly higher in non-
sparse areas, particularly in relation to bed and breakfast accommodation.  
Response rates were, however, relatively low for this area. 

Parking 

 Total net parking income. Non-sparse authorities reported the highest average net 
surplus in the survey (24% higher than less sparse authorities and 34% higher than 
sparse authorities), although for this survey question, the data has potential to be 
skewed by the nature and size of authorities responding to the question. 

 Net parking income by geographical area.  As might be expected, by far the largest 
proportion of parking income is generated in urban areas of authorities. For sparse 
authorities, income from their urban areas was 2.5 times that of income from their 
town & fringe areas and nearly 6 times higher than income from their village & 
dispersed areas.  For less sparse authorities, urban income was 7.5 times that in 
town & fringe areas and 9 times higher than in village & dispersed areas.  Non-
sparse authorities responding did not have income in town & fringe or village & 
dispersed areas of their authority. 

Page 47



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 28 

 

Economic development and community development 

 Quantification of costs.  A number of authorities were able to quantify the additional 
costs associated with geographical factors, all of which related to more rural factors, 
such as outreach, travel, accessibility and bringing providers to locations. 

 Libraries  

 Subjective costs.  Sparse authorities generated the highest proportion of income to 
expenditure, more than double that of non-sparse authorities.  Non-sparse authorities 
had the highest proportion of employee costs, which could be linked to the larger 
proportion of full time employees.  Sparse authorities’ premises costs as a proportion 
of expenditure were double those of non-sparse and less-sparse authorities. 
 

 Premises costs for a typical library. Based upon data for a typical single library in 
different geographical locations, premises costs as a proportion of total expenditure 
increased in relation to rurality.  These increased by 17% between urban and village 
& dispersed areas in sparse authorities and by 30% between urban and village & 
dispersed areas in less sparse authorities (non-sparse authorities did not have 
libraries in non-urban areas).  This is likely to indicate the higher fixed costs of 
premises associated with service provision in more rural areas, although could also 
be linked to proportionally lower employee costs in more rural areas e.g. due to less 
full time staff and/or use of volunteers.  

 
 Cost per visit.  The cost per visit data was mixed, identifying that, whilst for sparse 

authorities, costs per visit were lowest in urban areas of the authority, for less sparse 
authorities, costs per visit were lowest in village & dispersed areas of the authority 
(non-sparse authorities did not have libraries in non-urban areas).  This is likely to 
reflect the means of service provision in those authorities responding to the survey, in 
terms of potentially higher visit numbers in urban locations, set against potentially 
lower employee costs in more rural locations. 

Highways 

 Authorities were able to describe a range of factors that influenced the costs of 
highways and bridge maintenance, most of which related to geographical factors, 
although ‘topography’ rather than ‘rurality’ per se was often seen to have the greatest 
influence on costs. However, authorities were unable to support the qualitative 
information with relevant cost data, which will, in some cases, be linked to the 
averaging out of contracts, where the service is delivered externally. Sparse 
authorities, on average, were identified as having capitalised a far greater proportion 
of expenditure (66% for sparse compared to 57% for less sparse and 39% for non-
sparse authorities). Authorities also provided a range of views on the factors used in 
the current Highways Maintenance Relative Needs Formula. 

 Adult Social Care 

 Subjective costs.  The proportion of expenditure covered by income is highest in 
sparse areas. This may indicate a greater potential to generate income or it could 
indicate lower overall costs.  

Page 48



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 29 

 

 Agency staff. The proportion of agency staff was highest in less sparse and non-
sparse authorities (around double that in sparse authorities).  

 Out of area placements.  Sparse authorities reported the lowest proportion of out of 
area placements (around a third that of non-sparse authorities and a quarter that of 
less sparse authorities). This could potentially reflect the larger geographic nature of 
sparse authorities and greater availability of provision within the area. 

 Travel claims. Although proportion of time spent travelling was lowest in less sparse 
authorities, these authorities still had the highest average travel claim per officer. 

 Travel downtime. Less sparse authorities had the highest cost of downtime, around 
double that of sparse and non-sparse authorities, although this should be caveated, 
as data for this question was only received from two authorities in each category. 

 Residential care additional premia.  A number of residential care premia were 
identified, across both rural and urban settings, largely in relation to market factors, 
location and incidence of self-funders. 

 Domiciliary care rates and premia. Differential hourly rates were identified, with a 
premia for the average rate for domiciliary care of 5% between non-sparse and less 
sparse authorities and 11% between non-sparse and sparse authorities. A range of 
(largely rural) premia were also able to be quantified by authorities. 

 Day care.  Sparse and less sparse authorities received less income in proportion to 
expenditure for day care. Sparse authorities had a significantly higher proportion of 
travel costs (19% higher than less sparse and 17% higher than non-sparse 
authorities). 

 Children’s Social Care 

 Subjective costs.  Sparse authorities reported the highest proportion of income to 
expenditure.  

 Agency staff. Less sparse and non-sparse authorities reported the highest proportion 
of agency costs, at almost double those of sparse authorities.  

 Out of area placements. Non-sparse authorities reported the highest proportion of 
spend on out of area placements by far (43% compared to 16% for sparse authorities 
and 10% for less sparse authorities). This could reflect the larger geographic nature 
of more rural authorities, with greater capacity for in-house provision 

 Travel claims. Although non-sparse authorities had a significantly higher proportion of 
staff time spent travelling (possibly linked to greater numbers of out of area 
placements), travel claims were highest for less sparse authorities. 

 Foster care and adoption. Payments to foster carers/agencies for the non-sparse 
authorities were below those for sparse and less-sparse authorities. Payments to 
adopters were relatively similar. Authorities were asked if there were additional 
premia paid for foster and adoption; however, these were related to the additional 
needs of individual children, rather than geographical factors. 

Page 49



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 Qualitative interviews with authorities 

8.1 As identified previously, 15 authorities were purposively selected, across a range of 
ruralities, regions and types of authorities, from the total sample of 27 authorities, to take part 
in qualitative interviews.  The purpose of the qualitative interviews was to explore a broader 
range of issues with local authority stakeholders associated with rurality, the extent to which 
these and other geographical issues are faced by non-rural authorities and how such issues 
might result in additional unavoidable costs.  A separate standalone report on the qualitative 
interviews has also been produced as part of this research. 

8.2 The key issues identified from the qualitative interviews can be summarised as: 

Types of factors that might result in additional unavoidable rural costs 

8.3 The main factors which rural authorities identified as potentially leading to additional costs 
have been summarised below.  As considered previously, precisely defining what is 
represented by an ‘unavoidable’ cost is difficult, given that there is differing scope for 
interpretation.  Unavoidable costs might generally be taken to mean those which arise as a 
result of factors beyond an authority’s control, such as the geographical size of an authority.  
However, even so, there are clearly a number of different ways in which policy/service 
choices can be made to address such factors, and so authorities might feel that most of their 
costs are unavoidable.   

8.4 In addition, a measure of service quality would also need to be considered in order to identify 
whether a significantly higher quality or volume of service was being provided as a deliberate 
policy choice; however, given that there is often no defined ‘standard’ level of service, this is 
difficult to determine.  There is also scope for alternative views as to measures of service 
quality e.g. which performance indicators/outcomes best define this.   For these reasons, the 
costs identified below reflect those that are perceived by authorities to be additional and 
unavoidable, in the context of their providing appropriate services to their residents. 

 Local public service governance: raised by counties in the context of delivering 
services in two-tier areas, with the greater levels of engagement required e.g. for 
consultation and service design; 

 Communicating/engaging with large numbers of communities and 
neighbourhoods: in particular, due to population dispersal and settlement sizes, 
requiring large numbers of groups to be engaged with; 

Page 50



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 31 

 

 Lack of 'clusters' for commissioning purposes:  population dispersal was again 
identified as a factor, with there being less potential for services to be efficiently 
'clustered'.  The need for out of area placements and specific individual contract 
arrangements were raised; 

 Lack of broadband availability/connectivity: although match funding for rural 
broadband (with BDUK) is capital funding, revenue costs were also identified e.g. 
project teams, pump-priming, capital financing costs, in addition to wider cost issues 
associated with difficulties in achieving channel shift; 

 Increased travel time and costs due to geographical area and transport 
networks: the main issues considered here related to the geographical size of an 
area; levels of population dispersal and therefore greater travel time between 
undertaking individual service activities; the availability of transport networks/routes, 
which affects how efficiently services can be provided; congestion e.g. in areas with a 
high degree of tourism; and higher rural fuel prices; 

 Supply and market factors: factors identified related to authorities needing to seek 
to influence the market (e.g. packaging contracts in a way such that providers need to 
tender for a mixture of rural and urban areas); authorities investing upfront; fewer 
contractors operating, reducing the level of competition and increasing prices; the 
need to utilise small, higher cost providers; and the authority acting as a provider of 
last resort; and 

 Greater numbers of contact/access/delivery points being required: where more 
fixed premises were required due to a larger geography/dispersal of population and to 
ensure that travel times for staff/residents to provide/access services are not 
excessive. 

The extent to which geographical factors also affect non-rural authorities 

8.5 Although the authorities involved in the qualitative interviews reflected the greater numbers 
of volunteers from rural areas, a range of ‘geographical’ cost issues were also considered 
from authorities with coastal deprived, wider coastal and urban/London characteristics.  
Some of these factors are similar in nature to those for rural authorities, but for different 
reasons e.g. supply factors as a result of lack of geographical capacity for facilities, travel 
time as a result of congestion, whereas other factors were more unique to non-rural 
authorities; for example, population transience/churn; diversity; migration; increased 
daytime/overnight visitors; lack of informal care networks. 

Services particularly affected by rurality 

8.5 Authorities identified that almost all services were potentially affected by rurality to some 
extent.  In terms of the services most affected by rurality, a number of these services were 
more prevalently provided in rural areas e.g. home to school transport; rural bus subsidies; 
tourism; countryside services. Other services were identified as being affected as a result of 
distance and travel costs/downtime e.g. waste collection/disposal; domiciliary care; 
regulatory services.   Supply factors and out of area placements were perceived to affect 
services such as residential care and children’s social care, although it should be noted that 
evidence from the quantitative survey of local authorities identified significantly higher levels 
of out of area placements in more urban authorities, rather than more rural authorities, 
particularly for children’s social care. Greater numbers of fixed access/contact points were 

Page 51



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 32 

 

seen to affect services such as libraries/hubs and lack of income generating opportunities 
were identified in relation to parking services. 

The extent to which rural ‘premia’ are built into contracts 

8.6 It was generally identified that such premia are not directly identifiable, as costs are 
‘averaged out’ within contracts, although where actual cost contracts were operated, the 
differing costs associated with undertaking activities in different parts of the authority could, 
in theory, more explicitly be identified.  However, a direct comparison of rural vs. urban costs 
would require precisely the same activity/job to be costed, with the only difference being the 
location of the activity, given that a range of other factors could affect costs, such as the 
complexity of the job, severity of the repair etc. 

Service levels and access to services 

8.7 There was a general view that there were lower expectations in rural areas e.g. for services 
such as winter maintenance; availability of transport; footways; street lighting etc.  For 
‘needs-based services’ e.g. social care, differential provision was not considered to exist.  
For ‘universal services’, although differences in levels of provision were identified as taking 
place, this was, however, seen to be linked to need/risk; for example, more frequent street 
cleaning taking place in towns compared to villages or it being more likely that potholes will 
be addressed/gritting will take place in areas where traffic volume is greatest. 

Service delivery models 

8.8 Channel shift and asset rationalisation were particular models that both rural and urban 
authorities were implementing, given the need to make significant cost savings.  Many rural 
authorities had focused upon building community capacity and exploiting technology to 
reduce social isolation. Although difficult to directly evidence, the intention was that these 
types of initiatives would lead to cost savings in terms of prevention/demand management 
further down the line e.g. through allowing individuals to live more independently, improve 
health etc.  Libraries were highlighted as a particular service area which acted as community 
hubs and where wider service provision/advice/co-location took place.   

Funding issues related to rurality 

8.9 Given the differences in the nature of local authorities interviewed, different views were 
expressed in relation to funding, although the main points identified were: 

 The Rural Services Delivery Grant was generally welcomed by rural authorities and 
views were expressed that such grants needed to become a permanent feature of 
the funding system; 

 Given the complexity of the funding system, damping could limit the effect of 
potentially positive changes for rural authorities and can have unexpected results; 

 Authorities' ability to benefit from business rates retention was identified as being 
limited by some authorities e.g. with smaller businesses/broadband/transport 
access issues; 

 In terms of definitions, 'rurality' refers to a much broader range of issues than 
'sparsity' and rural deprivation issues were not perceived to be reflected in funding 

Page 52



    

 

 

Drivers of Service Costs in Rural Areas – Summary Report 

 

FINANCE WITH VISION 33 

 

formulae; 

 Some authorities identified that funding could potentially reflect not just sparsity, but 
also the level of 'dispersal' and numbers of settlements of certain sizes; 

 The relative size of dispersed communities was also identified as a factor, in that a 
very sparse population may not expect certain services within their locality, whereas 
dispersed concentrations of population are more likely to;   

 Coastal authorities identified that funding could take greater account of the coastline 
and coastal geographies;  

 Authorities with high levels of tourism suggested that overnight visitors should be 
reflected in the funding formulae to a greater extent in comparison with day visitors; 

 Highways funding was specifically mentioned by some authorities, where it was 
believed that capital allocations worked more effectively than revenue allocations for 
highways, as capital is more objectively based upon authorities' approaches to 
asset management; 

 Some authorities requested that a separate 'flexible funding pot' should be made 
available for rural authorities.  Authorities were cautious about the increased use of 
time-limited specific grants, however, where these came to an end, meaning that 
authorities had to find funding from their base budget; and 

 If assets and services are to be devolved to parish/town councils, then views were 
expressed that referenda levels should be set at an appropriate level for local 
councils, to enable them to fund such services.  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



RUR/SE/14/002 d 

Local Government Finance Settlement 2015/16 – 
Consultation December 2014 

 

Response on behalf of Forest Heath District Council and St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council 
 
Introduction 
 
The councils welcome the opportunity to comment on this consultation. We note 
from the consultation documentation that you will carefully consider responses on 
any aspect of the proposals set out in the consultation, the draft Local Government 
Finance report and the supporting information.  
 
Consequently, this response covers the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement in general and the specific questions identified in the Consultation.  
 
Local Government Finance Settlement Timing and Process 
 
The councils remain concerned with the timing of the Statement announcement.  
Although it is recognised that the Provisional Settlement is essentially an update of 
the illustrative 2015/16 settlement published with the 2014/15 settlement, there are 
invariably some issues and variables where the Settlement itself is awaited in order 
to provide both clarity and the definitive information required for budget setting and 
financial planning.  
 
It would be preferable for the Provisional Settlement to be issued earlier in 
December rather than the week before Christmas, perhaps immediately following the 
Autumn Statement. The timing of the Settlement in recent years has created genuine 
problems in assimilating, querying, and responding to, information. 
 
Regarding the settlement process, local authorities have welcomed the move in 
recent years towards multi-year settlements and the increased degree of certainty 
that they bring to financial planning. The councils urge any incoming government to 
commit to multi-year settlements as we are no longer in the realms of making annual 
savings, but rather implementing long term strategies to meet the financial future of 
continued austerity.  To do this with little or no knowledge of the long term settlement 
is extremely difficult.   
 
Overall, increased transparency and availability of information in the Settlement, 
combined with timeliness, would enable local government to both plan more 
prudently and effectively, and communicate more appropriately with local 
stakeholders.  The publication of spending power figures is unhelpful and time is 
then spent understanding and explaining these figures to members and the local 
press. 
 
Business Rates 
 
The councils note that there are currently separate consultations on business rates 
administration and business rates avoidance and look forward to the review of the 

Page 55



RUR/SE/14/002 d 

future structure of business rates announced in the Autumn Statement. However, we 
also have a number of comments at this stage regarding business rates in the 
Settlement. 
 
The councils welcome the fact that authorities will be fully compensated by way of 
Section 31 grants for the various measures announced in the Autumn Statement. 
However, we are concerned that these measures: 
 

 Represent late Central Government interventions into an ostensibly localised 
system 

 Reduce the longer-term buoyancy of the business rates tax base 

 Further complicate an already complex and difficult to comprehend system. 
 
The councils consider that the Government should set all appeals up to 31st March 
2013 against the old national business rates pool, thus reducing the need for a 
safety net top-slice, and rectifying a basic flaw in the system when it was set up, 
whereby authorities bear significant risks locally that have arisen from a previous 
national system. 
 
Council Tax 
 
The councils have some comments regarding the proposals for Council Tax in the 
Settlement and the announcement. 
 
We are opposed to the continued Central Government imposition of artificial 
referendum limits on Council Tax, and believe that Council Tax levels are a matter 
for local electors and their elected representatives. The availability of Council Tax 
Freeze Grant notwithstanding, the effective imposition of a freeze in perpetuity has 
seriously suppressed one of the few income streams that local authorities have 
potential to influence. Relatively modest council tax increases in recent years could 
have made a significant contribution to protecting and investing in local services. 
 
The councils welcome the availability of Council Tax Freeze Grant funding for those 
authorities that choose to take this course of action.  In West Suffolk we have a long 
track record of prudent budgeting and have frozen council tax for the last 5 years. 
 
Finally, regarding Council Tax, we are extremely frustrated that, as was the case in 
2014/15, the funding for council tax support in 2015/16 is not separately identified. It 
is consequently not clear how much of a local scheme is being externally funded, 
and we would welcome considerably more transparency about the level of external 
funding.  
 
Specific Consultation Questions 
 
Question 1: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal that local welfare 
provision funding of £129.6m should be identified within the settlement by 
creating a new element distributed in line with local welfare provision funding 
in 2014-15?  
 
No specific view 

Page 56



RUR/SE/14/002 d 

 
Question 2: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal that the funding for 
the Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government for services 
to local government should be £23.4 million in 2015-16?  
 
No specific view 
 
Question 3: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to reduce the New 
Homes Bonus holdback from £1bn to £950m?  
 
Yes 
 
Question 4: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to increase the rural 
funding element from £11.5m, as previously proposed, to £15.5m?  
 
Yes 
 
However, we feel that the amount of RSDG remains inadequate when set in the 
context of the gap in SFA funding between urban and rural authorities. We would 
make the following points: 

 At £15.5m RSDG is worth an average £1.20 per head to people living in rural 
areas. This is still less than 1% of the gap between the difference in SFA 
between urban and rural areas which, in 2015/16, will see £130 per head 
more funding for urban authorities. 

 The Government’s own figures confirm that the average rural resident will pay 
more than £80 more per head in Council Tax in 2015/16. Average wages in 
rural areas are lower than in urban areas. 

 In 2013/14, the Government made positive changes to sparsity weightings 
within the formula but significant damping and subsequent freezing of the 
system has seen the majority of these gains locked away.  

 In 2013/14 (and in successive years due to the system being frozen until 
2020), London authorities gained £180m from damping. This is 13 times more 
than the RSDG grant being offered. The majority of this was funded by 
damping losses in Shire Areas, most of which are rural. 

 We are pleased that the Government has acknowledged the existence of 
‘several drivers for additional rural costs’ but we do not feel that an additional 
£4m across some 94 authorities adequately reflects this conclusion. 

 
The councils welcome the publication of the report commissioned by DCLG and 
Defra on the drivers of service costs in rural areas.  If Government recognises that 
rural local authorities face additional spending pressures, funding these should be 
adequately reflected in the next spending review settlement.  A full review of the 
funding formula in time for the 2020 reset should be completed, to ensure the costs 
of delivering services in rural areas are recognised. 
 
Question 5: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to reduce the fire 
funding element of Revenue Support Grant for each fire and rescue authority, 
by an amount equal to 0.24% of the total pensionable pay for that authority?  
 
No specific view 

Page 57



RUR/SE/14/002 d 

 
Question 6: Do you agree with the Government’s proposal to compensate local 
authorities for the cap on the multiplier in 2015-16, calculated on the same 
basis as in 2014-15?  
 
The councils agree with the Government’s proposal to compensate local authorities 
for the cap on the multiplier in 2015/16, calculated on the same basis as in 2014/15, 
through a Section 31 grant. However, as noted above, we do have some concerns 
about ad hoc Central Government amendments to the Business Rates system. 
 
Question 7: Do you have any comments on the impact of the 2015-16 
settlement on persons who share a protected characteristic, and on the draft 
Equality Statement? 
 
No specific view 

Page 58


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Rural Youth Work Programme
	6 Funding of Rural Local Authorities
	RUR.SE.15.002 b_ Minister Letter
	RUR.SE.15.002 c_ Rural_summary_report
	RUR.SE.15.002 d_LG Finance Settlement 201516 West Suffolk Consultation Response


